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. Equifax Information Services et al

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON

RUSSELL D. ROSCO and BONNIE
R. ROSCO,

Plaintiffs,
V.

EQUIFAX INFORMATION
SERVICES; AMERICREDIT;
CAPITAL ONE AUTO FINANCE;
CONSUMER PORTFOLIO
SERVICES; COSTCO
WAREHOUSE; EXETER
FINANCIAL; EXPERIAN
INFORMATION SOLUTIONS;
FIRST BANK MORTGAGE;
FLAGSHIP CREDIT; GLOBAL
LENDING SERVICES, INC.;
GROSSINGER KIA; LAFONTAINE
TOYOTA; REGIONAL
ACCEPTANCE; ADVANTAGE
GROUP; TIDEWATER CREDIT; and
TRANSUNION LLS,

Defendand.

NO: 2:15CV-325RMP

ORDERGRANTING DEFENDANTS’
MOTIONS TO DISMISS FOR
FAILURE TO STATE A G AIM

Doc. 145

BEFORE THE COURTare fourMotionsto Dismiss for Failure to State a

Claim filed byDefendans Capital One Auto Finance (“Capital One”), ECF No.

ORDER GRANTINGDEFENDANTS’ MOTIONS TO DISMISS FOR FAILWRE

TO STATE ACLAIM~1
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54; Global Lending Services LLC Global Lending), ECF No. 23fFlagship
Credit Acceptance, LLC‘Flagship”), ECF No. 74; and Consumer Portfolio
Service (“CPS”), ECF No. 80 The Court has reviewed the mototihe record
and is fully informed.

ANALYSIS

The Federal Rules of Civil Procedure allow for the dismissal of a complai
where the plaintiff fails to state a claim upon which relief can be grakm R.
Civ.P.12(b)(6). A motion to dismiss brought pursuant to this rule “tests the leg
sufficiency of a claim.” Navarro v. Block250 F.3d 729, 732 (9th Cir. 2001). In
reviewing the sufficiency of a complaint, a court accepts allplelhded
allegations as true and construes those allegations in the light most favorable t
nornrmoving party. DanielsHall v. Nat'l Educ. Ass’n629 F.3d 992, 998 (9th Cir.
2010) (citingManzarek v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. €619 F.3d 1025, 1031
32 (9th Cir. 2008)).

To withstand dismissal, a complaint must contain “enough facts to state 4
claim to relief that is plausible on its faceBell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y650 U.S.
544, 570 (2007). “A claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factua
content that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defenda
liable for the misconduct allegedA&shcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009).
While specific legal theories need not be pleaded, the pleadings must put the

opposing party on nate of the claim.Fontana v. Haskin262 F.3d 871, 877 (9th

ORDER GRANTINGDEFENDANTS’ MOTIONS TO DISMISS FOR FAILWRE
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Cir. 2001) (citingConley v. Gibso355 U.S. 41, 47 (1957)A plaintiff is not
required to establish a probability of success on the merits; however, he or she
must demonstrate “more than a sheer possibility that a defendant has acted
unlawfully.” Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678&iting Twombly 550 U.S. at 556) [ A]
[p]laintiff’ s obligation to provide the ‘grounds’ of his ‘entitle[ment] to relief’
requires more than labels and conclusions, and a formulaic recitation of the
elements of a cause of action will not ddvombly 550 U.S. at 555.

As a preliminary matter, the Court notes that Plaintiffs filed a resportise to

presentmotiors to dismiss that was seemingly intended to simultaneously respond

to all four motions filed bythese similarlysituated DefendantsSeeECF No. 92.

This document was filed after submission of reply briefs from Global Lending and

Capital Oneso thédfilin g could be viewed as ampermissible Surreply’ as it
pertains to those Defendantdowever, due to Plaintiffs’ pro se status, the Court

has considered the documéherally in deciding all four motion$

! Defendantslso arguéhat Plaintiffs’ Complaint fails to comply withrep. R. Civ.
P.8. Seee.g, ECF No. 54 at &. However, in light of this Court’s determination
pursuant td-ep. R. Civ. P.12(b)(6), the Court need not address this argument.
2 Plaintiffs also fileda declaration andnexhibit on the same ddkey filed ECF
No. 92,seeECF N0.93, andfiled three different responses to ECF No, s&&

ECF Nos. 78, 92, and 108.h@ Court has considered all of these documents.

ORDER GRANTINGDEFENDANTS’ MOTIONS TO DISMISS FOR FAILWRE
TO STATE A CLAIM ~3
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Plaintiffs allege that all four movinDeferdants violated their rights in the

L4

same way, but the Court recognizes that Global Lending is currently in a different
procedural posturifom the other Defendants. In Plaintiffs’ Complaint, the only
reference to Global Lending states that it “is a corporation with license to do
business in Washington whose agent is National Corporate Research LTD, 1780
Barnes BLVD SW, Tumwater, WA 98512.” ECF No. 1 afThere is no
allegation of any action or wrongdoing by Global Lending, acdordingly,
Global Lendingargues that it shoulde dismissedrom this matter.SeeECF No.
23.

Plaintiffs respond that they simply neglected to list Global Lending among a
number of othebefendants in their first, second, and third claims. ECF/Bat
1. They respond to Global Lending’s motion by requesting leave to amend thejr
Complaint and have filed a proposed Amended Complaint which names Global
Lending in Claims I, lland lll. SeeECF No. 761 at 67. Pursuanto FED. R.Civ.
P. 15, Plaintiffs could file their proposed Amended Compldid a matter of
course.” Accordingly, the Court has considered this First Amended Complaint jas
supplanting the original ComplairgeeECF No. 761. The Courthas reviewed
this First Amended Complaint, aaddresssall four Defendantsmotionsto
dismiss simultaneously.

As it relatedo thar actions Plaintiffs’ original Complaint only allege that

the movingDefendants violated “15 U.S.C. § 1681et ¢],” when“D efendants

ORDER GRANTINGDEFENDANTS’ MOTIONS TO DISMISS FOR FAILWRE
TO STATE ACLAIM~4
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Americredit, Capital One Auto Finance, Consumer Portfolio Services, Exeter
Financial, Flagship Credit, Regional Acceptance, and Tidewater Credit deprive
Plaintiff, Russell D. Rosco of his constitutional and/or statutory rights by
impermissible access to his credit information during the two year period
preceding this lawsuit’ECF No. 1 at 5 Plaintiffs’ FirstAmended Complaint
adds Global Lendintp thelist of Defendants within thisameconclusoy
statement.SeeECF No. 76l at 7.

Defendants argue thRtaintiffs’ conclusory allegations lack sufficiefiaicts
that would support their clasn Although Plaintiffs allege a deprivation of their
rights, they fail taspecifywhich statutes they seek to invoke beyond the stateme
of purpose of the Fair Credit Reporting Aat,uponwhich provisions of the
Constitution their claims rely. Therefore, Defendants argue that belekirgef s’
Complaint lacks allegations &#w and &ctssufficient to support a claim, or to
provide adequate notice to the Defendants of the specific nature of Plaintiffs’
allegationsthat it mustbe dismissed as it pertainstbem

Plaintiffsrespond that they only need to allege a “concise statevhéme
claim” and that they do not need evidentiary fa8see.g, ECF No. 77 at 3.
Plaintiffs argue that they “ha[ve] providedair notice offtheir] claim via
‘impermissible access [Mr. Rosco’s]credit information during the two year

period preceding this lawsuit. Id. Furthermore, they argue tHa¢fendants’

motions should be denied because Defendants fail to provide arguments that would

ORDER GRANTINGDEFENDANTS’ MOTIONS TO DISMISS FOR FAILWRE
TO STATE ACLAIM~5
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“indicate Plainffs will be unable to prove individud@efendantsliability based
on some conceivable theory, the standard of reaijgpvopriatd¢o a Rule 12
motion” Id. at 4.

Plaintiffs fail to recognize the proper standardlerFep. R.Civ. P.
12(b)(6) To establish a prima facie cateey must establishmore than a sheer
possibility that a defendant has acted unlawfulligbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (citing
Twombly 550 U.S. at 556)It is insufficient for Plaintiffs to allege onljat they
can proceed on “some conceivable thedigSedsolely on an assertion of
impermissible acceso credit informationwithout specifying either the law
supporting any theory or facts that would support a legal claim

The U.S. Supreme Court has held tlformulaic recitation of the
elements ba cawse of action will not doto allege a viable claimSeeTwombly
550 U.S. at 555The Court has reviewed both timgtial Complaintand theFirst
Amended ©mplaint and the Court finds that neithescites elements of any
actionableclaim or allege any facts that would correspond to elements of a lega
cause of actionSee generall{ECF Nos. 1 and 7&.

Capital OneGlobal Lendingand Flagship interpret Plaintiffslaimsas
seeminglyalleging a violation ofl5 U.S.C8 1681b(f)for the improper use or
acquisition of a credit reporfTheseDefendantite Godby v. Wells Fargo Bank

N.A, 599 F. Supp. 2634, 938 (S.D. Ohio 2008fpr the proposition that

ORDER GRANTINGDEFENDANTS’ MOTIONS TO DISMISS FOR FAILWRE
TO STATE A CLAIM ~6
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[a] plaintiff must establish threelements in order to sustain a claim of
Improper use or acquisition of a creaddport: (i) that there was a
“consumer reportwithin the meaning of the statute; (iilpat the
defendant used or obtained it; and (iii) that the defendant did so without
apermissible statutorgurpose.

Seee.g, ECF No. 54 at 5.

If the Court acceptthat Plaintiffs’ claimsvereintendedto allege a violation
of 15 U.S.C8§ 1681b(f), despit¢heir not having citedo that subsection of the Fair
Credit Reporting ActPlaintiffs still fail to allege theselements Their Complaint
andFirst Amended Complairgimply stae thatDefendantsdeprived Plaintiff,
Russell D. Rosco of his constitutional and/or statutory rights by impermissible
access to his credit information..” ECF Nos. 1 at 5 and 7bat7. Plaintiffs fail
to allege howDefendantsaccessethe Rosce’ credit informationandif they
accessd that informatiophow that alleged access was impermissible.

Plaintiffs seemingly recognizeeir inability to allege thelementdisted in
Godbywhen they statthat

[t]he three elements &odby v. Wells Fargo Bank, N,A99 F. Supp.

2d 934, 938 (S.D. Ohio 200B) presented by the defendant are best

served by actions after discovery; not by a dismissal prior to discovery.

Especially in light of the fact that the two elementsGafdby the

evidence of defendant “obtaining” a “credit repad’in the hands of

the defendants and is obtainable through discovEme third element

of Godbyis in debate; the defendant states they have a perraissibl

purpose, whereas the plaintiff states there was no permissible purpose.

ECF No. 92 at %italicization added) However, gotential litigantcannot force

discovery by alleging bare claims that lack sufficient factual supptne

ORDER GRANTINGDEFENDANTS’ MOTIONS TO DISMISS FOR FAILWRE
TO STATE ACLAIM ~7
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complaint andhere,Plaintiffs do not base thieclaimsin law bycorrelatingfacts
to elements of a legal claim.

Furthermore, although Plaintiffeay be alleging violation ofl5 U.S.C. §
1681b(f)for Defendantsalleged actions in obtainirfglaintiffs’ credit repor
without any“permissible purpose Plaintiffs’ vague factual allegatiortefeatsuch
a claim Thebroaderstatuteexplicitly states a number of “permissible purposes”
that can justify the furnishing of a consumer report, includijtjg a person which
[any consumer reporting agency] has reason to belié&gintends to use the
information in connection with a credit transaction involving the consumer on
whom the information is to be furnished and involving the extension of credit to
. the consumer. . .” 15 U.S.C. § 1681(a). Plaintiffs state that they “filled out a
credit application with LaFontiane [sic] Toy@fat was for the purpose of
determining purchase [sic] power .." .ECF No. 108 at 2 Although there are
insufficient facs befae the Cou to understand the nature of Plaintiffs’ claims, th
Court noteghe inconsistency d?laintiffs’ statement that they filled out a credit
application, but that they “were not trying to finance anything. Plaintiffs’
admissiono filling out a credit applicatioseemingly would grant Defendants the
right to have access to their credit report.

Plainiff s sur-reply provides additional factual context ssentially
arguing that in [atR013 and earh2014,Plaintiffs were looking to purchase a

vehicle and were visiting different showrooms during that seé8eleECF No. 92

ORDER GRANTINGDEFENDANTS’ MOTIONS TO DISMISS FOR FAILWRE
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at 23. Plaintiffs allege that théynever sought financing from the financial
Institutions listed in this case during the months of NovembebDacdmber
2014,” but that “[t]he financial institutions listed in this case are listed as having
made credit inquiries during the months of November and December 201%.”
Even onsidering the facts alleged iretimproperlyfil ed “surreply,”
Plaintiffs still fail to allege a claim upon which relief can be grant@drsuant to
15 U.S.C81681Db, there are a number of ways hafendantxould permissibly
haveobtained Plaintiffscredit information assuming they obtained that
information at alleven if Plaintiffs had not sought financing fraefendants
The Courtfocuses orthe sufficiencyof Plaintiffs’ claims in ruling upon
Defendantsimotions to dismiss, but the Court also notes thairRiffs submitted a
copy of acourtorder from the NohernDistrict of Indiana where the aa did not

allow Mr. Rosco to amenbis Complaint to add effendants due to the futility of

3 Plaintiffs admit to making inquiries during vistts car dealershipsom

November of 2013 through January of 2014, but allege that Defendants are list
as having made credit inquiries in November and December of 2014. The Col
not certain wither Plantiffs intended to allege that the inquiries were made in
Novemberand December of 2013, instead26f14, but the year is immaterial to
the Court’s determination regarding the suffiagwof Plaintiffs’ claimsfor the

purpose of the present motions.

ORDER GRANTINGDEFENDANTS’ MOTIONS TO DISMISS FOR FAILWRE
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claimsthat appear very similar to those alleged in this.c&s=ECF No. 931.
The Indiana court assesddd. Roscds attempt to amentdis Complaint to bring
claimsagainst‘nine financing companies and their individual employees for
allegedly accessindir. Rosco’s]consumer report withoutis authorization.” See
id. at 46. The court cited5 U.S.C. 8§ 1681tp explainvhen norconsumer
Initiated consumer report requests are allowed. The court quoted the poft®on o
U.S.C. § 1681)(1) thatstates that
[a] consumer reporting agency may furnish a consumer report relating
to any consumer. . with any credit or insurance transaction that is not
initiated by the consumer only.if . (B)(i) the transaction consists of
a firm offer of credit or insurancéij) the consumer reporting agency
has complied with subsection (e) of this sectfangd] (iii) there is not
in effect an election by the consumer, made in accordance with
subsection (e) of this section, to have the consumer’s name and address
excluded from lists of names provided by the agency pursuant to this
paragraph. ..
SeeECF No. 931 at 5.
In their surreply, Plaintiffs referto the Indianacourt’s citation tol5 U.S.C.
8§ 1681bas it relates to this casargung that“if the defendants are resting on 15
U.S.C. 168b(c)(1); (i) there was no firm offer of credit or insunce, (ii) no
statement that consumer reporting aggs®j} complied, and (iii) the Plaintiff had
elected to have his name and address excluded frorh IB&F No. 92 at 5.
Plaintiffs misconstrue their burden at this stage of litigatibne Court is

not yet concerned with what Defendants are “resting on,” but is instead fazuseq

the sufficiency of Plainti§’ claims and whether or not they have stated a claim

ORDER GRANTINGDEFENDANTS’ MOTIONS TO DISMISS FOR FAILWRE
TO STATE A CLAIM ~ 10

=




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

18

20

21

upon which relief can be granteBvenif this Court were to take Plaintsf
statement as an argument that their claimgamnsistent witil5 U.S.C8§
1681b(c)(1), Plaintiffs’ bare, conclusory statements fail to establish “more than 3
sheer possibility that a defendant has acted unlawfuliybal, 556 U.S. at 678
(citing Twonbly, 550 U.S. at 556).

Plaintiffs argue that should this Court find theorplaint to be insufficient,
that Plaintiffs should & granted leave to amend their Complaibée e.q.ECF
No. 77 at 4.There has not yet been a motion for leave to amemdGbeplaint,
which would now be the Second Amended Complamthis request is not
properly beforeahe Court. However, due t®laintiffs’ pro se staus, the Court will
treat their repeated requests as equivalent to a proper motion.

“The court should freely give leave when justice so requiress. R. Civ.
P.15(a)(2). Although Rule 15 allows courts to liberally grant leave to amend
complaints, a district court “need not grant leave to amend where the amendm
(1) prejudices themposing party; (2) is sought in bad faith; (3) produces an undt
delay in litigation; or (4) is futile.”AmerisourceBergen Corp. v. Dailysist West
Inc., 465 F.3d 946, 951 (9th Cir. 2006). “Courts may deny a motion to amend ¢
complaint if doing so woul@e futile.” Haley v. TalentWise, Inc® F. Supp. 3d
1188, 1195 (W.D. Wash. 201r9consideration deniedNo. C131915 MJP, 2014
WL 1648480 (W.D. Wash. Apr. 23, 2014) (citibigS. ex rel. Lee v. SmithKline

Beecham, In¢245 F.3d 1048, 1052 (9th C00Y)).

ORDER GRANTINGDEFENDANTS’ MOTIONS TO DISMISS FOR FAILWRE
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Plaintiffs’ First Amended ComplainECF No. 7€1, did not address the
lack of sufficient law or facts that the Court recognizes,ispitehefact that it
was filed after three motions to dismiss were filed, ECF Nos. 23, 54, andhich,
provided notice to Plaintiffs of the deficient nature of tleeiginal Complaint.

After numerous attempts in their responses andeplies to the motions to
dismiss as well as in their First Amended Complailaintiffs do not allege
sufficient lawor facts to state a claim upon which relief could be granied.
addition, Plainfifs now haveconceded that they had completed a credit applicati
when they were shopping for cars, which appears to have entitled Defendants
obtain Plaintiffs’ credit eport

Allowing Plaintiffsto file a SecondAmendedComplaintwould beto allow
themto do as theypreviouslyhave donerepeatconclusorystatements asserting
that they have enough facts to support sbooaceivablgheory” under the Fair
Credit Reporting Act The Court finds that such amendment would be futile and
would undulyprejudice Defendantsy forcing them to continue to litigate against
baseless claims. Therefore, Plaintiffs shall not be granted leave to amend the
First AmendedComplaint.

Based on the foregoing, the Court finds tRAiintiffs have not stated a
claim upon which relief could be granted agaetendants Capital One Auto

Finance; Global Lending Services LLC; Flagship Credit Acceptance, &t C;

ORDER GRANTINGDEFENDANTS’ MOTIONS TO DISMISS FOR FAILWRE
TO STATE A CLAIM ~ 12

O

n

to




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

18

20

21

Consumer Portfolio Services, and Plaintiffs’ claims against those Defendants a
dismissedvith prejudice

Accordingly,IT ISHEREBY ORDERED THAT:

1. Defendant Capital One Auto Finance’s Motion to Dismiss for Failure f
State a ClaimECF No. 54, isGRANTED.

2. Global Lending Services LL'€ Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a
Claim,ECF No. 23, isGRANTED.

3. Flagship Credit Acceptance, LLSMotion to Dismiss for Failure to
State a ClaimEECF No. 74, is GRANTED.

4. Consumer Portfoli®&ervices Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a
Claim, ECF No. 80, isGRANTED.

5. Capital One Auto Finance; Global Lending ServideS; Flagship
Credit Acceptance, LLC; and Consumer Portfolio Service®ba8d 1 SSED as
defendare WITH PREJUDICE.

The District Court Clerk is directed to enter this Order and provide copieg
counsel and to pro se parties antler minate Capital One Auto Finance; Global
Lending Services LL C; Flagship Credit Acceptance, LLC; and Consumer
Portfolio Services asdefendantsin this matter.

DATED this 23rdday of May 2016.

s/ Rosanna Malouf Peterson

ROSANNA MALOUF PETERSON
United States District Judge
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